#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO. SC06-2187** 

HENRY DEMAYO, Petitioner,

v.

DEBORAH CHAMES and HELLER & CHAMES, P.A., Respondents,

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER HENRY DEMAYO AS AMENDED

Submitted by: Sophie DeMayo 9100 SW 115 Terrace Miami, Florida 33176 305-252-2825 Fla Bar No 267155

####

#### **STATEMENT OF THE PARTIES**

The Petitioners, DEBORAH CHAMES and HELLER & CHAMES, P.A., will be referred to in this brief as Chames or as Attorneys. Respondent, HENRY DEMAYO, will be referred to as client or DeMayo.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND THE CASE

DeMayo, suffering serious financial setbacks, hired Chames in December, 2003, to represent him in seeking downward modification of child support and abatement of alimony. (T 27, 43). Initial consultation was in October at which time she provided legal advice, work began in earnest early December and her retainer agreement was signed December 30<sup>th</sup> although it had been given him two weeks earlier. (T27, 43, 65). The retainer agreement (Appendix Exhibit A) was a six page document in various fonts, boldnesses, underscores, and capitalizations to emphasize certain sections, but did not in any manner emphasize the following which it put in the back pages:

It is specifically agreed that Heller and Chames, P.A., shall have and is hereby granted all general, possessory and retaining liens and all equitable, special and attorney's charging lien upon the client's interests in any and all real and personal property within the jurisdiction of the court for any balance due, owing and unpaid as well as a lien in any recovery whether by settlement or trial; and such lien or liens shall be superior to any other lien subsequent to the date hereof and that the client hereby knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently waives his rights to assert his homestead exemption in the event a charging lien is obtained to secure the balance of attorney's fees and costs. Heller and Chames, P.A., shall be entitled to file a Notice of Claim and Attorney's Charging Lien and a Notice of Lis Pendens with regard to the client's interest in any real property upon which a lien may be claimed and you consent that the Court shall specifically reserve jurisdiction in the Final Judgment to determine and enforce my attorney's charging lien.

At mediation, Chames came up with the following agreement: for the next nine months child support would be reduced from \$2000.00 per month to \$1500.00 per month and alimony from \$7000.00 per month to \$2500.00 per month, and that six months hence DeMayo would pay his former wife the sum of \$25,000.00 or, if he should sell his home by that time, half the proceeds of his home; that if at any time within those nine months DeMayo recovered financially that this agreement would be terminated; and further, that all monies abated or modified would be added to the end of the term of payments. (T. 28, 90-93)

The temporary relief to him on the surface (if the abatement went the full nine months) was \$15,500.00 and which a savings of \$4500.00 for child support was pursuant to law and followed the charts and by Chames' own admission "simple". (T. 27, 90-92, 128) A few very minor simplistic motions were filed but not pursued. (Index P. 5-9; R 258-542). For these efforts, attorney billed DeMayo \$43,397.00 plus \$4009.00 in costs. (T34) The cost of Chames' accountant was an extra \$10,000.00. The total billed for this effort was more than \$57,000.00. Appellant paid part of these billed monies. (T 37)

Very soon thereafter the former wife counsel unexpectedly called the court and in a five minute conference call revealed that former wife had committed herself to a hospital. DeMayo asked the court (Chames never broached the subject and remained quiet throughout the call) if his three small children could stay with him. (T 122-123) The court immediately agreed and the children were put in the custody of their father to live with him full time in DeMayo's home which home had been purchased by him after their dissolution and with non-marital funds. (T 12, 28–30) (R484-484). (R 534-535, 542-544). (The children remained living full time with their father and less than a year after Chames withdrew the former wife and DeMayo acknowledged that DeMayo should permanently be their primary custodial parent. This agreement was made the order of the court entered December 14, 2004. Book 22930 Pg 1655 of Docket.) Soon after this conference call, when Chames learned DeMayo was days from refinancing his home as he was in desperate need of money, she filed motion to withdraw and simultaneously filed a notice of charging lien specifically and only on his homestead for the balance of her fees. Notice was filed on a Thursday for hearing the next Tuesday. (R 534-535)

At hearing the court granted motion to withdraw. Instantly upon withdrawal, Chames said to the court,"I have an order for a charging lien." The court said "Bring it up. I'll sign it.' The court took her order and signed it without

reading. (T 9, 10, 11). The order granted Heller & Chames a charging lien on the homestead of Mr. DeMayo for \$33,206.76. Upon inquiry by DeMayo as to what had just transpired during those seconds, the court said it had signed a charging lien on his homestead but that he was entitled first to a hearing before an order could be entered and could have one if he wanted, to which DeMayo said "yes" and a date for hearing was set. Despite DeMayo being granted a hearing Chames took physical possession of the order that had just been signed granting her charging lien for \$33,207.76 on her client's homestead and immediately recorded At hearing she explained she did this as she knew DeMayo was about to it. refinance his home and wanted her lien (which all believed to be a nullity since the hearing had been granted) to be paid from the proceeds of the refinance even before a hearing to determine her entitlement and the amount of such entitlement was heard. (T 17, 79-81, 83, 135)

At hearing DeMayo made the following motions: to dismiss the prior entry of order for charging lien for violation of due process as there had been no hearing and because of equal protection (T 9-12); to dismiss hearing on charging lien for violation of due process on <u>several</u> grounds including lack of notice (T7); objection to hearing on issue of money owed without first determining if there is a asset which satisfies the four prong requirements of *Sinclair*; *Louis, Siegel, Heath, Nussbaum & Zavernik, P.A. v. Baucom,* 428 So.2d 1383, (Fla. 1983) (T 25-26. 135-136, 138-140); objection to imposition of lien because language in retainer agreement was overbroad and overreaching (T12); objection to lien itself as it was imposed on homestead (T12); and objection on lien as there was lack of subject matter on which to impose lien because of lack of tangible fruit obtained by attorney; and objection because as the homestead was not subject to the jurisdiction of the court as required in the retainer agreement. (T 139- 141) All motions and objections were denied. (T22, 31)

Chames gave the court the case of Sabin v. Sabin, 522 So2d 939 (Fla. 3<sup>d</sup> DCA 1988) and told the court that it meant that as long as her retainer agreement allowed her to get a charging lien on any property owned by her former client without regard to Sinclair and that even if his homestead was not secured by her efforts, was homestead, and had nothing to do with the case, she was entitled to take it by way of charging lien. (T 17-18, 20) The court accepted her argument and proceeded with the hearing over DeMayo's objections that this was not the law and that there was nothing on which to attach a charging lien. (T 22) Chames immediately began by testifying as to attorney's fees. (T 24) DeMayo strongly and continually objected on two grounds. First, the notice addressed only a charging lien specifically on his homestead and there was no notice that the issue of attorney's fees as a judgment would be heard, and second, that entitlement had to be proven, then a proper subject of imposition had be identified, then lastly, and only if the four prongs of charging lien were met under *Sinclair* could the court inquire as to fees. (T 21, 22, 25-27, 36, 135-136) Every motion was overruled. (T26, 31) DeMayo made the following objections: the case did not produce tangible fruit by the attorney as it was a child support case and an abatement case; waiver of homestead was not enforceable; even if homestead could be liened the retainer agreement said the property had to be under the jurisdiction of the court which DeMayo's homestead was not; and as no charging lien could be put on that which was not secured by the attorney there could be no charging lien. (T 21, 135, 136, 138, 139, 141) All objections were overruled. (T 26, 27, 31, 138-141) The issue of fees was heard over strenuous objection. (T 34-36)

Testimony was elicited regarding the signing of the retainer agreement. Chames testified it was a "form" retainer agreement. (T 54) DeMayo testified it was first given him in a sealed envelope which he misplaced and never opened which was consistent with his testimony that he has an aversion to and difficulty with paperwork. (T 102) As Chames called him to return it signed before she would do any more work for him or see him, he went to her office on December 30<sup>th</sup> where her assistant ran another standard form copy off the computer in front of him and he signed it while holding it in the air without ever reading it. His assistant then walked in Chames office to tell her he signed, and then escorted DeMayo into her office. (T 103-106; 64) Chames testified that she did not remember how the retainer agreement came to be signed.

Chames testified even though she had to explain the simplest things to him six, seven or ten times, she never explained the terms of the retainer agreement to him because she said that if he didn't understand them he would have asked and because his pre-dissolution attorney had a charging lien provision in his retainer agreement. (T 74, 61, 67-68) There was no testimony as to whether that lawyer's retainer agreement also required his client to waive his homestead protection or that his pre-dissolution attorney ever had to file a charging lien or that her client knew what a charging lien was. (T 20, 53-55, 61, 69, 72, 75)

The following colloquy was during Chames' testimony:

Q. Now, what do you perceive your duties were to your client? He certainly was your client on the day that he signed the retainer agreement. What do you perceive your duties were to your client to explain the retainer agreement to him?

A. My duties were if you had a question, as set forth in the retainer, I'd be happy to explain it.

Q. Are you saying by that answer that you assume he had no questions?

A. He had it from December  $12^{th}$  through December  $30^{th}$ .

Q. No, Ms. Chames. This is a simple question. Did you assume he had no questions?

A. Yeah, that was my assumption.

Q. By making that assumption, do you assume then that he understood the language?

A. I assume he had no questions.

Q. Do you assume he understood the language?

A. I think it's and the same. If you didn't understand the language, you'd have a question. He had no questions.

Q. So you assume then, he understood the language. Is that your testimony?
A. <u>You can't assume anything, one way of the other</u>. Emphasis supplied. (T 67-68)

Chames then testified that she asked DeMayo on many occasions over a period of time to sign a mortgage in her behalf and in behalf of the accountant but that he refused to do so. (T 78, 80, 110, 113) DeMayo also testified that she asked him for a mortgage on many occasions and even told him that by giving her a mortgage that he would have totally encumbered his house so that when he sold it his former wife would have nothing. He stated that his reaction was to tell Chames this seemed to him to be a fraud that Chames was suggesting. (T 111)

DeMayo testified that if he had known she was giving herself the right to take his home he would never have signed with her; that he didn't know such a thing was even possible; and that he had not even heard of those terms until a few days prior to the hearing at which he was testifying. (T 113-115) Chames did not cross examine DeMayo as to even a single statement he made under oath.

Chames admitted that the homestead was not secured by her efforts but claimed that didn't matter as her retainer agreement allowed her to take it by way of a charging lien. (T 80, 84)

The only testimony as the reasonableness of the time expended was that Chames testified that she filed 123 pleadings in this case. Chames then testified as to her efforts and told the court that in addition to reviewing 64 pleadings filed

prior to dissolution, she herself had prepared 123 pleadings in this simple case. (T24) She repeated this twice so this was not a slip of the tongue. (T24) The record reflects there were two dozen only one of which has the barest substance to it. The others are threadbare and simplistic. Total pleadings as indicated in the index was 61 almost all of which were housekeeping and included that which was filed by all parties and the court. Most of the pleadings were "fill in the blank" pleadings and included in the number were cover letters. There were no evidentiary hearings. There were no depositions. There was not a single complex issue. The only expert was the accountant who did the analysis work for her. She filed no legal memorandums except that at the end of her motions she would ask for attorney's fees citing Rosen v. Rosen, 696 So.2d 697 (Fla. 1997). Upon inquiry she explained to DeMayo that Rosen meant that where the other side caused the need for the attorney's efforts the other side would pay. He interpreted her explanation to mean that since his former wife was in the wrong, she would be paying these fees. She never got an award for attorney's fees from the other party. Chames admitted to receiving correspondence from two separate (T 79-80). opposing counsels criticizing her for the unnecessary and voluminous paperwork. (T 94)

Chames testified that DeMayo never objected to her fees which testimony was contradicted by DeMayo who said he was constantly objecting in

correspondence and in conversation. (T 35, 109-121, 126-128, 132-133) He testified that whenever he objected she would tell him of her good relationship with the judge and how the judge had invited her to join an exclusive club of family law lawyers. (T 109)

At the end of the hearing the court commented that DeMayo should be grateful to her for her for having gained temporary custody of his small children. DeMayo politely reminded the court that Chames had nothing to do with that and that that was accomplished by the court instantly granting Mr. DeMayo's his own request (not Chames's) during that conference call that his children stay with him while his former wife was in the hospital. (T 122-134)

The court granted the charging lien stating that while normally the charging lien must attach to the funds obtained at the time of dissolution he would allow the charging lien on the homestead based on the language in the retainer agreement. The court then instructed Ms. Chames to prepare the order "that says whatever language you think that needs to be in there. Show it to Ms. DeMayo first and it it's appropriate, I'll sign it". (T 140) An order was signed but there is no indication in the record that it was ever first submitted to DeMayo's attorney.

Throughout the hearing, Mr. DeMayo testified forthrightly and without equivocation. Chames testified evasively, equivocally, defensively and almost never gave a direct answer. Yet the order signed by the court found Mr. DeMayo

"not credible" and based its award in significant part on its erroneous finding that Chames had filed 123 pleadings and that she had received more than 60 pleadings from opposing counsel! The order imposed a money judgment for the full amount of fees requested with interest and a charging lien for that amount on the homestead of her client.

Appeal was made to the Third District Court of Appeals addressing numerous issues regarding the imposition of a charging lien on that which Chames did not procure for her client, the lack of due process including notice in holding a hearing on a money judgment and making a finding of money judgment, the lien on homestead by a hard creditor, and waiver of homestead protection against creditors among other issues.

The opinion issued by the Third District Court of Appeal addressed only the issue of waiver of homestead which allowed the imposition of Chames's charging lien which lien they reversed based on the precedent disallowing waiver of homestead protection. The court certified the question of great public importance correctly quoted in Petitioner's brief except that the election was in 1984, not 1884. The opinion affirmed the lower court on all other grounds which included imposition of a money judgment. (Appendix Exhibit B)

#### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

The Florida Supreme Court has issued an order accepting jurisdiction

and consolidating this case with Case No. 1671, with the same parties.

#### **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Whether the appellate court erred in affirming a money judgment found pursuant to a hearing on charging lien where there was nothing on which to impose a charging lien.

a. Whether where there is nothing on which to impose a charging lien, the trial court has the jurisdiction to hear the issue of attorney's fees.

b. Whether the finding of a money judgment was a violation of the 14<sup>th</sup> Amendment as applied to the instant facts where there was no notice that that issue would be heard and where there was nothing on which to impose a charging lien.

c. Whether the money judgment can survive when the order imposing charging lien is reversed.

**II.** Whether the court erred in finding that the homestead was "under the jurisdiction of the court" as required by the retainer agreement for any property to which Chames could seek to impose a charging lien.

III. Assuming, arguendo, that the hearing on fees was proper, whether the amount of fees impermissibly exceeded the benefit for the client and was egregious and wasteful and whether the findings supporting those fees was supported by the record.

IV. Assuming, arguendo, that the Court finds DeMayo effectively waived his right to homestead protection against creditors, whether there can still be a charging lien on his homestead even though the homestead was not secured by the efforts of the attorney.

V. Whether Chames' retainer agreement can change the definitional requirements of a charging lien.

VI. Assuming, arguendo, that one can waive homestead protection against creditors, whether DeMayo effectively waived such protection where Chames had a duty to explain the terms of the retainer agreement and to determine objectively whether he understood them and agreed with them.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The issue of whether the court erred in affirming a money judgment that was found pursuant to a hearing on charging lien where there did not exist anything upon which to impose a lien, is a matter of law and is therefore subject to de novo review.

Whether the trial court had jurisdiction to issue an order of money judgment is a matter of law and is de novo review.

Whether the hearing on charging lien was a violation of the 14<sup>th</sup> Amendment to the U.S. Constitution is also a matter of law subject to de novo review.

Whether a money judgment issued pursuant to a charging lien can survive the reversal of the res upon which the lien was placed is a matter of law and is subject to de novo review.

The review of an unambiguous contract to determine the plain meaning of the words is also de novo review.

The award of the amount of attorney's fees pursuant to a hearing held with notice and without other legal impediments, is reviewed by abuse of discretion.

Review of the issue of whether, assuming arguendo an effective waiver of homestead protection, a homestead can be waived where that homestead was not secured by the efforts of the attorney is a matter of law and is reviewed de novo. Whether a lawyer can change the definitional requirements of a charging lien by contractual language is also a matter of law reviewed de novo.

Assuming arguendo, that one can effectively waive homestead protection, whether the purported waiver here was effective is reviewed by an abuse of discretion standard.

Whether a lawyer attempting to gain the waiver of her client's protection of homestead against creditors, has the duty to explain to the client the meaning of what she is attempting to get him to sign and has the duty to determine if in fact her client does understand what he is signing, is a matter of law and de novo review. Whether that lawyer has sufficiently performed her duties to the client and whether there are sufficient indicia to show that the client did or did not understand and whether the waiver was in fact voluntary, is subject to de novo review.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

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