#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### **CASE NO. SC06-1671**

DEBORAH CHAMES and HELLER & CHAMES, P.A., Petitioners,

V.

**HENRY DEMAYO,** Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT HENRY DEMAYO

\_\_\_\_\_

Submitted by: Sophie DeMayo 9100 SW 115 Terrace Miami, Florida 33176 305-252-2825 Fl Bar No 267155

##

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The court erred in imposing a charging lien on the client's homestead where the homestead was unrelated to the litigation and was not proceeds of the judgment procured by attorney's efforts. 1

This issue was briefed and argued to the Third District but was not addressed in the court's opinion. Because the law firm's imposition of the charging lien on property unrelated to the representation renders the charging lien invalid regardless of the homestead issue, this Court can and should consider the issue. *Savoie v. State*, 422 So.2d 308, 312 (Fla. 1982) (once the Court has jurisdiction, it can consider all issues appropriately raised in the appellate process, and it is appropriate for the Court to exercise jurisdiction over other issues which are properly briefed and argues and are dispositive of case.)

The lower court erred in enforcing a charging lien on the client's homestead for multiple reasons. First, and assuming the retainer agreement was valid, the very terms of the retainer agreement required that the charging lien be imposed on only that which was under the jurisdiction of the court. Here, Mr. DeMayo's home was purchased with non-marital funds after his dissolution of marriage.. By no stretch of the imagination was it "under the jurisdiction of the court". Therefore by the terms of her own retainer agreement, her client's homestead was not subject to a charging lien by her. (Vol. IV at 27-28)

Second, there was no res suitable on which to impose a charging lien. Charging liens were created to give an attorney the "right to be remunerated <u>out of the results of his industry</u>, and his lien on <u>these fruits</u> is founded in equity and justice. *Sinclair, Louis*, *Seigel, Heath, Nussbaum & Zavernik, P.A. v. Baucom*, 428 So2d 1383, 1384 (Fla. 1983) (citing *Carter v. Bennett*, 6 Fla. 214, 258 (1855) (emphasis added). The Florida Supreme Court in *Sinclair* spelled out clearly the four proofs required before an attorney could obtain a charging lien of which one is that there must be a recovery secured by the efforts of the attorney to which it is

understood that a charging lien may attach. In fact, there four proofs, or points, are definitional and axiomatic. Florida courts have consistently reaffirmed the rule of law that charging liens are limited to money or identifiable property recovered in the underlying litigation, often referred to as the tangible fruits of an attorney's effort. See e.g., Zaldiver v. Okeelanta Corp., 877 So. 2d 927, 930 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004) (a"charging lien is an equitable right to have costs and fees due an attorney for services in the suit secured to him in the judgment or recovery in that particular suit." (citations omitted)); Mitchell v. Coleman, 868 So.2d 639, 641 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) (holding the charging lien was too broad because it did not limit the lien to property recovered by appellant as a result of the attorney's efforts in the dissolution action); Robert C. Malt v. Carpet World Distribs., 861 So.2d 1285, 1288 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2004) (holding the trial court erred in imposing the charging lien "(b)ecause the charging lien was not attached to a judgment, settlement of some other tangible fruits of the attorney's service"); Correa v. Christensen, 780 So.2d 220 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001) ("(i)t is not enough to support the imposition of a charging lien that an attorney has provided his services; the services must, in addition, produce a positive judgment or settlement for the client, since the lien will attach only to the tangible fruits of the services"); Mazzorana v. Mazzorana, 703 So.2d 1187, 1189 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1997) (reversing the imposition of a charging lien upon the appellant's nonmarital property in a dissolution action because "a charging lien may issue only 'on funds recovered for a client through the attorney's services." (citation omitted.))

Accordingly, it is axiomatic that "where there are no proceeds of a judgment, there is nothing to which a lien may, as a practical matter, attach." Litman v. Fine, Jacobson, Schwartz, Nash, Block & England, P.A., 517 So.2d 88, 91-92 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1987); see also Yavitz v. Martinez, Charlip, Delgado & Befeler, 568 So.2d 103, 105 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1990); Glickman v. Scherer, 566 So.2d 574, 575 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); Pasin v. Kroo, 412 So.2d 43, 44 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982). It is undisputed that the client's homestead was not obtained as the result of the efforts of the attorney, nor was the homestead related to the subject matter of the representation. (Vol. IV at 136) As there were no positive results obtained from the law firm's efforts to which a charging lien could attach, and the client's homestead was not related to the subject matter of the representation in a manner so as to allow the enforcement of a charging lien against the homestead, the charging lien is invalid.

Chames rests her claim solely on the fact that she claims her retainer agreement allows it without regard to whether or not the property she wants was secured by her or meets the Supreme Court requirements. To support her argument that property unrelated to the underlying litigation and not secured for her client by her efforts can nevertheless be subject to a charging lien, Chames

relies on a particular sentence, ambiguously written, in Sabin v. Sabin, 522 So.2d 939 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1988) which states that that which is other than "judgment proceeds" may be liened. However, the opinion in Sabin does not support Chames' argument for several reasons. First, to do so would require the court in Sabin to reject the four prong test by The Florida Supreme Court in Sinclair, supra, in which this Court stated that one of the four requirements of a charging lien was that it must be agreed between attorney and client that the attorney's fees would come from the recovery the attorney obtained for his client. As there is no language even hinting that the Sabin court sought to distinguish that case from the definitional strictures of Sinclair and from each and every other case in every district in this state, it is logical that the opinion, even with its vagueness of phrasing, never intended that it be interpreted in a manner to defy the Supreme Court of Florida or even to distinguish itself from decades of established jurisprudence. Second, there is further proof contained in that opinion that there was no intention to ignore or defy the Sinclair requirements. The Sabin opinion cites as authority for its holding the case of Billingham v. Theile, 109 So.2d 763 (Fla. 1959) which opinion specifically addresses the imposition of a charging lien upon real property related to the underlying litigation. These two opinions do not stand for the proposition that property unrelated to the underlying action and have not been secured for the client by the efforts of the lawyer can be subject to a charging lien. In fact even if *Billingham* had stood for anything of the sort, it would not have been good law after the later Supreme Court opinion of *Sinclair* which held exactly the opposite.

Billingham involved the successful efforts of an attorney in securing his clients' property out of a long-term lease. The attorney then attempted to impose a charging lien on that property that he had gotten back for his clients but he had no agreement with them to do so. The opinion and the other cases cited in *Billingham* revolved around the issue of the need for an agreement in order to be able to impose a charging lien. The Florida Supreme Court refused to impose the charging lien and approved the quoted language of the district court which said "...an attorney has no lien on the land of his client absent a statute or express or implied agreement providing one, even though he successfully prosecutes a suit to establish the client's title or recover possession." Id. At 764. So in *Billingham* the property had been recovered by the attorney for the client and Billingham stands that property which was recovered for the client by the for the proposition attorney in the suit could be subject to imposition of lien only if there was agreement to do so. Therefore when the court in Sabin stated that property other than "judgment proceeds" could be subject to an attorney's charging lien, and cited as authority *Billingham*, it was not saying that even property not secured by the attorney could be liened, but only that that which is other than money (proceeds) that had been secured through the attorney's efforts could be liened. Third, there is no case found in which the definition of "proceeds" is other than money proceeds. Therefore the "other" than "judgment proceeds" must mean in Sabin that other things than money which the attorney has secured for his client may be subject to charging lien such as the recovery of real property as in Billingham. See Move v. General Motors Corporation, 77 So.2d 875 (Fla. 1955); Mitchell v. Coleman, 868 So.2d 639 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 2004). Fourthly, the facts in Sabin do not extend the proposition to property outside of the suit, as Chames contends. Sabin involved a party in a marital dissolution action whose attorney secured for him in the lawsuit a certain property he co-owned with his brother. The retainer agreement gave the attorney a lien on all assets recovered or protected by him in the lawsuit. When the attorney sought a charging lien on that property, Sabin claimed no such lien could be imposed as it was not "judgment proceeds". The court disagreed citing *Billingham* for the proposition that "although a charging lien attaches only to judgment proceeds, the parties may enter into contracts which expressly subject other property to the charging lien." Id. At 940. There was no agreement between the parties that would allow the attorney a lien on assets unrelated to the dissolution action, thus the court's use of the term "other property" and its citation of *Billingham* as authority each confirm that the court referred only to those assets recovered by the attorney but which were not in the form of cash assets.

But in the present case, Chames takes the quotations from *Sabin* out of context in order to find support for its position. But even their proposed interpretation is in conflict with their own retainer agreement. They claim that under *Sabin* anything their client owns can be liened as the client agreed to that. But their own agreement states that such property must be under the jurisdiction of the court thereby removing from possible lien that which they claim their retainer allows them to lien whether or not it was secured by them for his benefit! This circuitous reasoning was accepted by the trial court which imposed the lien on their client's homestead and entered a money judgment.

In addition to all the reasons above, Chames is also foreclosed from imposing a lien because this language in her retainer agreement is overbroad. In *Cole v. Kehoe*, 710 So.2d 705 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1998) that court found that the retainer agreement which called for the imposition of a charging lien on the client's "interest...in any and all real property..." was overbroad as it encompassed property outside the subject litigation. Id. At 706. Citing *Sinclair*, *supra*, the court held that "(b)y definition, an attorney's charging lien cannot attach to property not involved in the suit and not before the court". Here, Chames tries to change the very definition of "charging lien" claiming as long as she puts it into her retainer

agreement, she is entitled to lien anything her client has despite the definitional limitations of *Sinclair* and its progeny. Language in a retainer agreement is not dispositive and is not permitted to overcome existing law. *See Shawzin v. Sasser*, *P.A.*, 658 So.2d 1148 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1995).

In stunning affirmation that Chames offered a misinterpretation of Sabin, is the case of Yavitz v. Martinez, Charlip, Delgado, and Befeler, 568 So.2d 103 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1990) in which two of the very jurists in Sabin (Judge Ferguson and Judge Hubbart) participated and which was issued two years later. The issue was whether the charging lien could be imposed on the wife's personal assets instead of on the "proceeds of the judgment." The court reversed for two reasons. First. citing Pasin v. Kroo, 412 So.2d 43 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982), Litman v. Fine, Jacobson, Schwartz, Nash, Block, and England, P.A., 517 So.2d 88 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987), and Kucera v. Kucera, 330 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 4<sup>h</sup> DCA 1976), the court stated that a charging lien may issue only if proceeds have been recovered by the attorney and then only on those proceeds. Since the court found that the amount of the lien exceeded what could be considered proceeds it reversed the imposition of the lien. Second, it remanded stating that if a charging lien should be imposed, the lien should be only against "the proceeds of the judgment." Id at 106. Emphasis If there was any thought that Sabin permitted property outside of a supplied. judgment to be liened, even if the retainer agreement allows it, it was soundly

dispelled in this case. The court further noted that since the amount of the charging lien exceeded the amount that could be considered proceeds, the amount of the charging lien (assuming a suitable subject of imposition existed) had to be reduced to reflect not more than the results obtained by the attorney. Emphasis supplied. Therefore where, as in the case at present, there are no proceeds there is nothing on which to lien, and no lien can be imposed. The order of the court granting attorney's a charging lien must be reversed.

II. The court erred in determining the amount of attorney's fees and entering a money judgment where there was no notice that the issue would be heard; where there was improper determination that there was a subject on which a charging lien could be imposed; and where the findings were not supported by the record.

The underlying reason, besides *Sinclair* and its progeny, that this procedure must function in above manner is that money disputes between lawyer and clients are first party disputes and are therefore actions in law and subject to trial by jury. *See Stabinski, Funt & De Oliveiro, P.A., v. Law Offices of Frank H. Alvarez*, 490 So.2d 159 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1986). A charging lien is an action in equity heard by the court hearing the underlying action in which the lawyers represented their client and from which the fee dispute arose. A charging lien can never be an action in law. Only where the dispute first satisfies the four prong requirements of *Sinclair* may the dispute be heard in equity and may the court allow inquiry into the amount of the attorney's fees between an attorney and his client, and then only after notice

that the issue of the amount of monies owed will be heard. When, as here, there is no res on which to impose a lien, the court hearing the underlying action does not have the jurisdiction to hear the matter of the dispute of the amount of monies owed. The matter must go to a court of law where the parties have right to independent action on the contract. *Franklin & Marbin, P.A. v. Mascola*, 711 So. 2d 46 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1998). Here, the client objected to the hearing as there was no subject matter on which to impose a lien but the hearing was held over objection.

Here, too, the client objected to hearing the issue of the amount of monies claimed by Chames because first, there was no res upon which to impose a lien, and second, there was no notice that the issue of amount of the monies would be heard, only that a charging lien was sought on his homestead. Although the court had no jurisdiction to hear the issue of the amount of monies owed, it proceeded with the hearing and entered a money judgment. In a case where the facts relevant to this issue are identical to the facts at bar, the lower court entered a judgment determining the amount of fees for the attorney in the same action as was held pursuant to the attorney's notice of hearing for a charging lien. The appellate court reversed as the notice failed to apprise the client that a determination of the money judgment would be heard. Shawzin v. Sasser, P.A., 658 So.2d 1148 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1995) citing Lochner v. Monaco, Cardillo & Keith, P.A., 551 So.2d 581 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1989). See also Milio v. Leinoff and Silvers, P.A., 668 So.2d 1108

(Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1996), reh. den. 683 So.2d 608 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1996). A notice stating only that a charging lien is sought on the client's homestead is insufficient to notice the client that the attorney will also seek the amount of the lien for money judgment. *Yavitz v. Martinez, Charlip, Delgado & Befeler,* 568 So.2d 103 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1990); *Rose v. Marcus,* 622 So.2d 63 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1993).

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